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MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  We're sitting today to hear the reply argument of Toronto Hydro, but just before we do that, there is the outstanding question of further submissions on jurisdictional matters, and the Board has come to a conclusion on that.

Mr. Brett has made submissions regarding the Board's jurisdiction, and in particular with respect to section 4.6(1) of the SPPA and section 18.01 of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.  The Panel has concluded that it does not need to hear any further submissions on that aspect of the Board's jurisdiction.

Toronto Hydro has also made submissions with respect to the Board's jurisdiction, and these are set out most fully at pages 36 to 39 of Thursday's transcript.  I won't read those in full, but I will quote what Mr. Rodger says at page 39, because the Panel views this as the nub of Mr. Rodger's and Toronto Hydro's argument with respect to the Board's jurisdiction on this matter.  He states there:

"If it was decided..."

And if in that case, he means a dismissal of the application on the preliminary issue, and that was in response to a question.
"If it was decided on the basis that IRM is the only option available to distributors in Ontario, and because we filed an application that's cost-of-service and not IRM, if you decided we're not going to accept the application because it's not IRM... then we think there's a jurisdictional problem with that.

"But as I say, that's not how the Board has presented the issue, and how we've approached this whole case.  So the Board would have to, in our view, blatantly change the meaning of both the 2011 Toronto Hydro decision and all the procedural orders up to this point in time, because clearly you've said:  IRM is our preferred choice, but utilities always have an option.  They just have to prove it.  They have to prove why IRM doesn't work.  And that's what we've been doing."

And that's the end of that quote.

The Panel does not disagree with this exposition of the Board's approach to rate-setting, and our conclusion is that this statement by Toronto Hydro does not raise a jurisdictional argument upon which further submissions are required.

And finally, it is clear from Mr. Rodger's submissions that Toronto Hydro is not taking the position that dismissing the application on the preliminary issue is completely beyond the Board's jurisdiction.  And I confirmed that with him at the end of the day, and I quote from page 158, in which I said:

"MS. CHAPLIN:  So if I understand you correctly, you are saying that the Board might decide to dismiss Toronto Hydro's application and there might be some basis upon which that is within the Board's jurisdiction, but there might also be other bases upon which that is not in the Board's jurisdiction?"

And Mr. Rodger responded:


"That's correct."

So the Panel concludes that further arguments on an unspecified hypothetical scenario are not required.

And that's our conclusion on that.

Unless there are any preliminary matters, we are ready to hear Mr. Rodger's reply.
FINAL ARGUMENT ON THE PRELIMINARY ISSUE
Further Submissions by Mr. Rodger

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, Panel Members.

To start with, if I could please mark as an exhibit a document brief that I circulated to all my friends by e-mail last night.  And I have made hard copies for the Panel and my friends this morning.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We have those.

MS. SEBALJ:  Mark it as K5.1. 
EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF TORONTO HYDRO.

MR. RODGER:  Exhibit K5.1.  Thank you.

So, Madam Chair, to start, the Board has established a process here to consider and determine the preliminary issue.  Toronto Hydro has followed that process and, in our submission, we have met and discharged the Board's test and standard.

The Board should decide that Toronto Hydro is entitled to proceed to have its application heard in a cost-of-service hearing, and Toronto Hydro submits that we have demonstrated in a clear and cogent way why it cannot adequately manage under IRM.

Now, in the submissions of my friends last week, all but one party to this proceeding either outright support cost of service for Toronto Hydro or implies that IRM is not sufficient to address Toronto Hydro's requirements.

AMPCO, BOMA and the City of Toronto all support proceeding to a cost of service hearing.

BOMA in particular stated that Toronto Hydro has put forward a "strong initial case" and for that reference, that was page 25 of last week's transcript.

Board Staff has suggested a variation to the IRM construct that focuses on a modified ICM as a way to deal with Toronto Hydro's expanding capital requirements.

Energy Probe has recommended that the Board conduct a separate review of Toronto Hydro's capital plan through some additional hearing process.

And similarly, VECC recommends imposing IRM on Toronto Hydro, but to leave the door open for a separate proceeding to address the capital plan.

Schools has put forward what I'm calling an either/or scenario; put Toronto Hydro on IRM or establish an even more, quote, "thorough and extensive," end quote, review process that would occur under cost of service, that is, some kind of brand new type of regulatory review beyond cost of service.

The Consumers Council was the only party to submit that Toronto Hydro be subject to IRM as is, and interestingly, CCC was also the only party not to participate in the oral hearing when Toronto Hydro's senior management team testified.  Perhaps there was no need for them to even attempt to test the evidence when they already knew their position at the end of the day.

Now, Toronto Hydro submits that there is no need to change IRM or to add some new modification to a component of IRM, like changing the incremental capital module, or to create some brand new regulatory review process to deal with the application before you.

And this is because, firstly, you already have a complete application before you.  It would be inefficient, in our view, not to consider the entire application and evidence before you, but instead to carve out one issue and disregard the rest.  The application is a complete, interconnected package, which, taken together, reflects Toronto Hydro's needs and requirements.

To those suggestions made that this preliminary issue process be continued, essentially, to a second preliminary hearing, on Toronto Hydro's capital plan, for example, and then only thereafter decide whether to go to a full hearing on the balance of the application, in our view would be unfair to continue the preliminary hearing in this way.
The idea of having to participate in multiple preliminary hearings just to get to the main hearing is not appropriate.

The Board has already clearly established a process for the preliminary issue.  You have identified that your test, and now you need to render a decision based on the evidence before you.

Secondly, you already have a tried and true, familiar and proven process at your disposal to consider Toronto Hydro's entire application.  It is cost of service.  There is no need to reinvent the wheel here just for Toronto Hydro.

Thirdly, it could be confusing and potentially produce conflicting results to come up with some new regulatory approach or modified IRM construct for Toronto Hydro, when at the same time the Board has launched its new renewed regulatory framework for electricity.  And this process was announced, as you're aware, on November 8th, 2011.

Now, if I could turn you to my document brief, Madam Chair and Members, Exhibit K5.1, and if you could first turn to tab 1.  This is the cover letter from the Board, dated November 8th, 2011, describing the renewed regulatory framework for electricity.  And just over on page 2 of the document brief is attachment A, and I've highlighted a couple of areas I just want to read.

First, midway down the first paragraph, the letter says:

"Recent applications filed with the Board indicate that significant levels of investment in transmission and distribution networks may be needed over the next few years for the renewal of assets to maintain appropriate service levels and system reliability and to connect new generation."

And then further down three paragraphs on the same page:

"The current regulatory framework for the electricity, distribution, and transmission sectors has been in place since 2001.  Given the challenges outlined above, it is appropriate at this time to consider how existing regulatory approaches and tools may need to be adapted to ensure that public-policy goals are met in a cost-effective manner."

So, Madam Chair, in light of the Board's new initiative, we submit it would not be appropriate or efficient to develop some one-off measure for Toronto Hydro when, starting in about two weeks' time, the stakeholder meetings are scheduled to commence on this much larger question of regulatory reform which already contemplates the circumstances faced by THESL.

Now, I'd also like to respond to Ms. Sebalj's submissions on the test and standard the Board should apply in this case.  And while Ms. Sebalj and I have used different terms, we are talking both about, essentially, the same concept.  Ms. Sebalj says the standard is the balance of probabilities, and I say it is the band of reasonableness, but they are effectively the same thing.  Ms. Sebalj uses the description used in civil cases, and I prefer the term that the OEB itself has used.

So to show this, I want to refer to the language Ms. Sebalj and I both use that goes to the essence of the standard.  And if you turn in my document brief to tab 2.  And this was one of the cases Ms. Sebalj put forward, the Bernstein v. College of Physicians and Surgeons case.  And if you just go over to page 4 of the decision.  And I've marked where the decision reads:

"Moreover, the proof must be clear and convincing and based on cogent evidence."

And then if you go to tab 3.  And this is the McDougall case, and which is page 6 of the document brief.  Again, the language in this decision, at the bottom:

"Further, the evidence must always be clear, convincing, and cogent in order to satisfy the balance-of-probabilities test."

And then if you go the words that I used when I described this in my argument-in-chief, and that's over on tab 4.  And this is from page 17 of the transcript.  I say, starting at line 10:

"We submit that the evidence, including the testimony from Toronto Hydro's senior officials, is genuine, cogent, and convincing.  Toronto Hydro has provided clear, credible, legitimate, and comprehensive answers to why it cannot manage under IRM."

So we were speaking about the same standard here, Madam Chair.  And since all of the parties, with the exception of AMPCO, agreed with Board Staff, I think we're all on the same page here.

AMPCO, as you'll recall, has said that the Board's test is arbitrary - that was at page 14 - but that the Board should not accept this.  The Board does not make random choices about what standard it uses.  It uses reasonableness, and it uses the balance of probabilities, as we've already discussed.

So to summarize the key consideration, when you apply your standard, given the submissions, when you look at the evidence, the balance of probabilities, or the band of reasonableness, that standard is discharged if you conclude that, for example, reducing Toronto Hydro's capital program from the current level of approximately $400 million to $140 million under IRM will, more likely than not, result in Toronto Hydro being unable to adequately manage its resources and financial requirements; or, as another example, if Toronto Hydro were moved from a 40-year capital replacement cycle to a 100-year capital replacement cycle, or if it had to terminate 300 to 400 employees in 2012, would it be more likely than not that Toronto Hydro was unable to manage its resources under these circumstances?

And if you answer any of these questions yes, that is as far as you need go.  The standard of proof will have been discharged.  And my reference to the "more likely than not" is once again exactly the same words used by Ms. Sebalj at page 59, lines 25.  So we submit that Toronto Hydro has clearly discharged the standard on the preliminary issue.

Now, there was one other point I want to speak to that is relevant to the submissions on the Board's test.  And this is with respect to the issue of fairness raised by Mr. Warren.  And I want to speak to this issue, because there is a linkage between procedural fairness on the one hand and the test you are applying here in determining the preliminary issue.

Procedural fairness is a fundamental principle of administrative law, and I do agree that this is an issue that any quasi-judicial body, like the OEB, always has to be concerned about.

But the issue is not how Mr. Warren has described it.  Mr. Warren described the fairness question, and I'm quoting:

"Although not articulated in these terms, it would be unfair for the Board to dismiss the application without having read all the evidence."

And that's from page 120 of the transcript.

In our view, the procedural-fairness question is not so much the requirement to simply read all the evidence.  The fairness issue is that the Board cannot somehow apply its test in deciding the preliminary issue in a manner that THESL could have no realistic chance of meeting.  In other words, the operation of your test, however inadvertently, cannot set up Toronto Hydro for failure.  This outcome would breach the fairness principle.

So if the Board were to decide that Toronto Hydro has not satisfied your test because, for example, witnesses did not go into the sufficient level of detail for workforce renewal, let's say, but the entire preliminary issue itself, it's been heard in a context that is much narrower than a full cost-of-service hearing, where all the five volumes of evidence is read, presented, and tested, then that outcome, in our view, would be inappropriate and would raise procedural-fairness concerns.

But you can avoid this issue by acknowledging in your decision the limits associated with this preliminary-issue process when you consider the issue, and then when you decide whether it is more likely than not that Toronto Hydro will be unable to adequately manage its resources given its situation and given how IRM works.

Now, BOMA included a submission on what it called Toronto Hydro's reasonable expectation, and that is, Toronto Hydro had a reasonable expectation from earlier Board decisions that the OEB would accept a cost-of-service application for 2012.

Now, Mr. Brett was correct when he said that by July 2011, when Toronto Hydro received the Board's decision in last year's rate case, that Toronto Hydro was in the final stages of preparing its cost-of-service application that was filed in August.

And parties have taken you to, prior to the July decision, what Toronto Hydro knew and understood, and was that the Board had said in the Ottawa Hydro decision that had been referenced before that:

"The Board finds that comparisons to Toronto Hydro are not pertinent, given that Toronto Hydro was never on incentive regulation."

For ease of reference, I've included that behind tab 5.

However, Toronto Hydro also acknowledges that the Board's July 2011 decision did, for the first time, in our view, articulate the Board's position that there were not two independent regulatory frameworks, as Toronto Hydro had argued, in that case.

But the Board also confirmed in that July decision that there was more than one way for the Board to set distribution rates, but to do this Toronto Hydro needed to show the Board why it could not manage under IRM.

So did Toronto Hydro have a reasonable expectation?  Yes, and we also relied on the Board's July decision in making the application of our choice, which was clearly acknowledged in that decision.  But we are not saying today, and I want to be clear on this, that Toronto Hydro simply relies on this reasonable expectation as the main reason to get over this hurdle on the preliminary issue.

Toronto Hydro has done all that you've asked us to do.  We've put forward evidence on why we cannot manage under IRM.  We have answered numerous interrogatories, and we have presented our most senior executives of the company, and they've been cross-examined on their evidence.

I also wanted to address this matter, because some of the parties raised the so-called floodgates fear; that is, if you let Toronto Hydro go to cost of service, and then an army of other LDCs will surely follow and ask for the same thing.

In our submissions, this concern is not a legitimate basis to prevent Toronto Hydro from having a cost-of-service hearing.  If other utilities have similar or different reasons why IRM does not work for them, they too should be allowed to come forward and explain to the Board their situations, and the Board can deal with those LDCs at that time.  The test will not somehow change for other LDCs.  If those utilities can discharge the onus, so be it.

The important point here is that what the Board did in Toronto Hydro's last rate decision, July 2011, and what it is doing in this preliminary process now is showing sensible and responsible flexibility.  And that's exactly what regulators should do.  The public interest will not be served by rigidly adhering to one particular model.  The Board has a preference for one regulatory approach at this time; we understand that.  But if Toronto Hydro or any other LDC can show why that approach should not apply to it, there's absolutely nothing wrong with that.

So I would ask the Board to reject the floodgates submissions; there is no evidence that this is a real concern, and in any event the underlying rationale of these submissions has no legitimate basis, in our view.

Now, Board Staff, as well as some other intervenors, argue that Toronto Hydro has failed to demonstrate unique circumstances that would be necessary in order to justify an exception to the Board's IRM policy.

Now, the Board has never stated that uniqueness is somehow part of the test.  Instead, the Board has clearly stated that the test is that a utility must demonstrate that it cannot manage its resources and financial needs under IRM, period.

An exception to IRM cannot turn on whether a utility is alone in facing certain circumstances, but rather must depend on whether the circumstances themselves justify an alternative approach.

To adopt the uniqueness criterion would lead to the result that if two utilities happened to face similar circumstances, justifying an exception, neither could obtain the exception.

Also, uniqueness cannot be objectively defined at a point in time, or over time.  And a utility could not know the case it must meet to demonstrate uniqueness.  Almost any utility could demonstrate something that differentiates its circumstances at a point in time from those of other utilities.

So the Board must necessarily use its judgment to determine not whether the circumstances are unique, but rather, whether the circumstances justify alternative treatment.


So ultimately it cannot matter in a given case whether other utilities do or do not face circumstances similar to those of others.  So in our submission --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Rodger, can I stop you there, just so I can understand a little more fully what you're suggesting?

I would have thought that Toronto Hydro would agree that regulatory consistency is also an important principle, and therefore, while every case should be taken on its merits, is it not relevant and germane to look at how other entities are placed, and in the circumstances of the cost of service-IRM pattern, almost every utility is on a cost of service-IRM pattern?

MR. RODGER:  Mm-hmm.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Surely that has some relevance?

MR. RODGER:  Well, I think it was the submissions that somehow an additional burden would be placed on applicants -- in our case, Toronto Hydro -- to kind of prove this uniqueness as part of the overall test.  I think that's what we did not -- that was not part of the express test.  And what I've tried to describe is the difficulties for any utility to establish this, when there really has not been any provisions about what, really, that means in order to meet the test.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. RODGER:  Now, having given you my submissions on this point, we do have alternative submissions, in the event that the Board does find merit in Board Staff's suggestions that unique circumstances are relevant.  And perhaps this might go to some of your issues that you just raised, Madam Chair.

Toronto Hydro submits that there are at least two circumstances that exist that the Board must consider as unique to Toronto Hydro.

And these are, firstly, the integration of new street lighting distribution assets into the LDC.  Rate base is clearly unique to Toronto Hydro.

And secondly, the possible creation of a new suite metering sub-class of residential customers is clearly unique to Toronto Hydro.

So let me just deal with both of those in turn.

First, with respect to street lighting –-

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, I don't recall hearing anything about this in the discussions that we had in the last week.  Is this new evidence?

MR. RODGER:  No, Ms. Hare.  You'll recall that, first of all, the city has raised this a couple of times.  They're concerned about their inability to consider street lighting rate issues if we didn't have a cost of service hearing.  So that was one part where it's been raised.

But I am responding to Board Staff's issues around unique circumstances.  So that's what I'm responding to in presenting these submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, Mr. Rodger, I think there will be a limit to how far you can go with that, since my understanding of the city issue is with respect to cost allocation and rate design for street lighting, not the integration of the assets that are changing hands, which is what I think you are referring to.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  As I say, these submissions all go to address Ms. Sebalj's issue that she raised, that unique circumstances must be present or should be present.

So we're saying if you do find any favour with that, here are a couple of examples.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But you were -- the witnesses were asked about unique characteristics, and did not raise that at the time, when they had the opportunity to do so.

MR. RODGER:  Well, we didn't think it was an issue at the time.  We're only responding now to what Board Staff has --


MS. CHAPLIN:  No, I'm referring to cross-examination, when Toronto Hydro was invited to discuss the aspects with which it was unique.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  And as I say -- but our view is these submissions go to what Board Staff raised just in argument, because at the time, as I started off on this part of my argument, we don't think the unique characteristics, you need to go there.  But if you feel that you do, we're giving you a couple of real-life examples.  And that responds directly to what Ms. Sebalj has raised in argument.

MS. CHAPLIN:  You're not helping me with my problem, which is that the witnesses were also invited to make specific examples of uniqueness, and did not raise this.

And I'm questioning why you're bringing forward -- I accept that it is evidence within your broader application, but it certainly did not form part of the evidence, the witness statements, any of the cross-examination, or indeed the method of regulation, I don't believe, unless -- I stand to be corrected, but I don't believe.

MR. RODGER:  If you'll allow me to go through this, Madam Chair, I'm not introducing anything new here.

The street lighting is part of the prefiled evidence, and I'd like to refer back to some earlier decisions which illustrate this point.  So there's nothing that's going to be new that goes on the record here.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. RODGER:  Now, at tab 6, I have included an excerpt from the February 2010 Board decision.

And at page 12, under the Board's findings, the Board acknowledges the importance of the issue, and is permitting the integration to provide for, quote:

"The appropriate ownership of distribution assets."

And, quote:

"Enhanced clarity and efficiency from a clear and enduring demarcation between regulated distribution assets and unregulated customer load assets."

And then the Board went on to order Toronto Hydro conduct a study to distinguish between distribution and non-distribution assets.  We filed that evidence at the end of January of this year.

And then on tab 7, we've included a reference to the August 2011 decision, where the Board finds that the applicant's method for classifying the street lighting system assets as distribution or non-distribution meet the criteria that are set out in the February decision.

And the Board also found the proposed transfer price of 28.938 million to be reasonable.

And then if I could draw your attention to -- it's page 32 of the package.  And this is from page 15 of the decision, starting at the bottom:

"The Board finds that rate base, revenue requirement, and rate consequences of the subject transfer should be determined in the context of THESL's next cost-of-service-based rates application."

So the finding of this Board, I think, needs to be put in context.  And by the time of this decision, Toronto Hydro had already filed with the Board notice of its intent to file a cost-of-service application for 2012.  So the Board was aware Toronto Hydro would be coming forward with a cost-of-service application.

And just to illustrate this, at tab 8, this was part of our argument-in-chief dated June 3rd, 2011, and under the requested relief, on page 36, Part D, we state:

"A finding by the Board that the rate base, revenue requirement, and rate consequences of the transfer..."

That is, the street lighting transfer:

"...will be determined in the context of Toronto Hydro's next cost-of-service application for 2012 rates."

So we submit that the only possible interpretation here of the Board's August 2011 decision was that the integration of street lighting would be dealt with at the next cost-of-service rate hearing.  And I think this can also be confirmed when you look at the Board order in the August 11th decision.  And again, if you could flip back to tab 7.  And this is page 33.  As part of the order, the Board said that:

"The leave granted above shall expire 18 months from the date of this decision and order."

So simply put, the Board's order doesn't allow Toronto Hydro to defer the transaction.  It must be completed within 18 months of August 3rd, 2011.

And as we've mentioned at the outset here, that's what we plan to do.  That's part of the application that was filed in August to make this transaction happen.  And that's, just for the record, contained in Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1 of the application before you now.

And as I've said earlier, the city in particular has raised concerns about street lighting, rate design, and cost allocation, and how a cost-of-service hearing is the vehicle to review this.

So again, to go directly to Staff's submissions, the integration of street lighting certainly constitutes a unique circumstance.  Likewise for suite metering.  No other --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry.  Just before we leave street lighting, just so I can...

Your conclusion, or your interpretation of this decision, is that because in Toronto Hydro's application, which I guess -- or their argument-in-chief, because it refers to a 2012 cost-of-service application, because in the Board's decision there is a reference to "next cost of service", that the Board should read somehow that that's accepting it would be an application for 2012 rates?

MR. RODGER:  Well, no, but I'm suggesting that --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Because it doesn't say "2012 rates", does it?  It just says "next cost of service".  I'm looking at page 15 of the decision of August 3rd.

MR. RODGER:  Well, certainly in tab 8 our argument-in-chief specifies 2012 rates to be determined under cost of service.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No, I understand that that is what Toronto Hydro put forth in its case.  But I guess I'm trying to understand, what would the Board have to have said?  Would it had to have said "next cost of service" and made some further finding?  I mean, I would think the fact that it doesn't say "2012" means that there is no specific date.

MR. RODGER:  Mm-hmm.  Well, I suppose it's the 18 months.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So that has to do with the transaction, does it not?  That doesn't have to do with rate-making implications --


MR. RODGER:  No, but I think if you look --


MS. CHAPLIN:  -- because that's -- it was done in the context of a MADDS application, wasn't it?

MR. RODGER:  But if -- I'm not sure we could read that into, Madam Chair.  If you look at the reference -- this is again tab 7, page 33 --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So that's the commercial transaction between the entities.  The rate-making implications of that sort of thing could be dealt with at a far different time.

MR. RODGER:  Yeah, I guess the way that Toronto Hydro's interpreted this is that you put that expiry date of 18 months for a reason.  You wanted the transaction to proceed.  And in light of all this other information that I've taken you through, that's how we certainly interpreted it, that we --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So that seems to go to expectations as much as uniqueness.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  And maybe just before you go on -- I gather you want to discuss suite metering -- we have some concerns about that, since that's the subject of a current ongoing proceeding and not part of this proceeding at all, as far as I know.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  I think the point is that, again, if you're looking for aspects of Toronto Hydro's circumstances today that are unique, the suite-metering issue is another factor that you can look to, because the Board has asked Toronto Hydro to assist it in determining whether or not to create a separate rate class for suite-metering customers, and, you know, I don't want to take you through it, but it's been well-documented in several decisions now that -- extending back right from May of 2008, that, you know, this is a generic issue of public importance to the entire province, but there has been a different approach taken to Toronto Hydro with this issue.  And we have an issue of the studies that have been done.  And as you say, this is subject to a separate process now.

But again, it is something that's unique to Toronto.  And I would also add --


MS. HARE:  Mr. Rodger, we didn't hear any of this in the last times that we had a hearing.  It wasn't explained by the witnesses.  Nobody raised it.  I think it's inappropriate to raise it now.

MR. RODGER:  Well, again, it's responding to the argument of Board Staff that you should take this unique circumstance into account in order to evaluate and decide upon the test.

So my points are that -- again, if you find merit in that --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I think, actually, Mr. Rodger, we understand that you're raising it in that alternative.  And I think we'll ask you to leave it there.

MR. RODGER:  And if there was just one thing I could point to.  And again, it's another handout in the package I gave you this morning.  It's not part of the binder.  It's at the end.

My only point is that if you -- I've included one page from the June 22nd, 2011, Chapter 3, "For the Filing Requirements of Transmission and Distribution Applications".  And I've included a reference, an excerpt, from number 4, "Specific Exclusions from IRM Applications".

And my point is that the Board itself has said that:

"The following are examples of specific exclusions from the IRM rate application process."

And the third bullet it changes to revenue to cost ratios.  And that's an issue that we would be dealing with on the suite-meter rate in Toronto Hydro's rate application.

So in other words, the IRM construct doesn't work for this particular rate design that Toronto Hydro's involved in now.

So that's all I have to say about those issues, Madam Chair.

Now, with respect to the off-ramp issue, Energy Probe argued that the IRM off-ramp is a retrospective trigger, not a prospective one, and because THESL did not exercise this in 2011, the off-ramp isn't available to THESL or should not be available to THESL.

And we acknowledge that the Board has traditionally applied this retrospectively, and we're not applying to qualify for a retrospective off-ramp.  However, in our view, the evidence on the record is clear that Toronto Hydro cannot adequately manage both its system resources on the one hand and financial needs on the other under IRM, and we suggest that part of what the Board is considering with its tests about whether IRM should apply is whether the off-ramp will be violated on a prospective basis. 

So simply put, if an off-ramp outcome is reasonably foreseeable and predictable, it would not be in the public interest for the Board to simply ignore this evidence and impose IRM.  Or in other words, let's not actually hit the iceberg when we can see it ahead of us.

Now, Energy Probe also argued and made the assertion that the Board must find that Toronto Hydro's evidence is, quote, "approximately right," end quote, in order to decide to hear the cost of service application, and we think this is just wrong.  And it was transcript Volume 4 at page 75 where they argued this point.

Toronto Hydro's evidence is based on the operation of the third-generation IRM model, and how the application of that model to THESL at this time creates structural deficits and predictable outcomes that Toronto Hydro would not be able to manage its resources or financial needs.  And all this was described in detail in the manner of regulation chapter, which was at Exhibit A1, tab 1, schedule 2, and in, among other places, responses to Board Staff IRs 1 and 2, VECC IR 6 and Energy Probe IR 2(a).

And as I had mentioned earlier, the determination of the preliminary issue is whether it is more likely than not that THESL will not be able to manage its resources and financial needs under IRM.

So it's not a question of whether Toronto Hydro's evidence is approximately right.  Energy Probe can test the evidence and make submissions through a cost of service hearing after the entire application has been presented and tested.

Now, Energy Probe also quoted extensively from Toronto Hydro's response to Undertaking J2.3, and this was the overhead/underhead discussion.  But they did not speak to part of that undertaking answer, which I wanted to take you to, if you go to tab 10, please.  And this is the Undertaking J2.3.

And on page 41 of the document brief, which is page 3 of the answer, after Toronto Hydro has explained the practical difficulties of converting underhead service to overhead in some detail, the undertaking response went on to say, starting at line 8:

"In any event, even if it was possible for THESL to successfully implement an equivalent overhead solution, the net effect of this 'savings' on its annual capital needs would be only approximately $70 million per year.  In the event that THESL is put on IRM-PCI, this savings would do very little to offset IRM-caused cap-ex gap, which in the years 2012 to 2014, THESL estimates as being $450 million, $475 million and $500 million, respectively.  This IRM-caused cap-ex gap is discussed in the witness statement of Anthony Haines filed October 31st, 2011, and in particular is illustrated in figure C of that witness statement, page 9 of 14."

So the assertion by Energy Probe that Toronto Hydro could somehow replace failing underground distribution assets with overhead services is simply naive.  Energy Probe's arguments provide no evidentiary basis for questioning the accuracy of Toronto Hydro's capital evidence, and the fact that Energy Probe can invent wholly unrealistic scenarios, whereby a small portion of Toronto Hydro's proposed capital spending might be avoided, is not evidence, and in any event we submit just flies in the face of reality.

In any event, this whole debate between overground -- underground and overhead, that's a topic that they can explore in detail at a cost of service proceeding.

Now, Mr. Shepherd offered, in our view, a very careless recounting of Mr. Haines' testimony on feeders, in an attempt to discredit Mr. Haines, discredit his credibility and his testimony as being exaggerated.

And then Mr. Shepherd went on to suggest that there are other exaggerations throughout the evidence, and this is both misleading and incorrect.

And if I you could first take you to tab 11, and this is an excerpt from the transcript on November 17th and starting at line 21, just to take you through what Mr. Shepherd said in his argument:

"Mr. Haines said they have 40 of their 1,700 feeders in the worst-performing category.  You'll recall that discussion with Ms. Chaplin, that they used to have 80 and now they have 40."

And he went on to say:

"Since there are 3,000 customers on a feeder, that's 120,000 customers, with at least two people served at each of those locations, 240,000 customers, a terrible result, that have regular outages."

And then over to the next page:

"So I did the math.  I said:  Okay.  1,700 feeders, 3,000 customers per feeder, that's 5.1 million customers.  But they don't have 5.1 million customers.  What do they have?  700,000, something like that.  So then how did he get to these 120,000 suffering customers?  That can't be right, unless -- unless the 40 worst-performing feeders are the longest ones they've got.  And then you would have to ask the question:  Why would you leave those ones till last?  That's just one example.  There are exaggerations throughout the evidence, and I'm sure that when the Board Panel looks at it, in reading through excerpts from the transcript, that lots will pop out to you, as well.  This was just one that popped out to us."

Now, Madam Chair, what Mr. Shepherd said Mr. Haines said is not, in fact, what Mr. Haines said.

What Mr. Haines actually said is found behind tab 12.  And this is from the November 11th transcript, when he appeared before the Board.

And if you go the first page behind tab 12, which is page 12 of the transcript at the bottom, Mr. Haines said:

"So of those feeders, 40 feeders, they average about 3,000 customers per feeder.  So you've got 120,000 customers that are experiencing regular outages, and of course those are people, you know, if -- and if the average is two or two and a half people per one of those meters, you're talking -- you're getting up into a quarter of a million Torontonians that are experiencing increasing outages from Toronto Hydro.  Some of those feeders are, in fact, in the 10, 12, 13 outages a year."

So clearly what Mr. Haines was talking about was the 40 feeders in the worst-performing category, with an average of 3,000 customers on each of these specific feeders, and not all 1,700 feeders.

And when Mr. Haines arrived at the figure of 240,000 Torontonians, he was not talking about the number of customers in the usual sense, since he indicated that he was talking about people affected by outages, the people behind the meter that actually live in houses and in buildings, et cetera.

So what Mr. Shepherd has tried to do in his submissions is just simply confuse the record, and then go on to derive results to make some rhetorical point, not a point in fact, but a point that just seems to suit his purposes.

So a proper read of Mr. Haines' evidence would not lead to the conclusions that Mr. Shepherd advances, which the Board should reject entirely, in our view.

Now, Board Staff and VECC attempted to argue that Toronto Hydro can happily operate under IRM and that 8.01 percent ROE is well within the 300-basis-points threshold for an off-ramp.  And this argument fundamentally mischaracterizes the evidence pointed to by Board Staff and VECC, which was part of a response to Board Staff Interrogatory 3.

And I just wanted to read the actual answer we gave to Board Staff interrogatory 3 on this point, starting at line 22:

"Under these assumptions, ROE declines from 9.58 percent to 8.1 percent (148 basis points) as a result of the structural deficit inherent when the half-year rule is used in the context of significant CEEDs in the rebasing year, followed by years of revenue requirements being set under the IRM-PCI regime."

So this interrogatory response does not show that IRM is a manageable situation for THESL.  What it was intended to show was the confiscatory reduction in ROE that would occur if IRM were applied to Toronto Hydro as a result of the operation of the half-year rule.

So, far from demonstrating that IRM is manageable, this evidence shows the opposite, because it shows that right from the start Toronto Hydro would lose 148 basis points off its ROE simply from coming off cost of service and going on to IRM, given that the opening rate base in 2012 under IRM will not incorporate the half-year rule and, therefore, not recognize about, net, $120 million of capital invested in 2011.  So that's what this answer was intended to show.

So the transition to IRM effectively takes away net income that otherwise would be there if rates for 2012 were established under cost of service.  And that's what this appendix A was attempting to show.

Now, both Board Staff and Energy Probe also suggested that the criteria for ICM could somehow be relaxed or modified to accommodate Toronto Hydro's situation.  And again, the ICM as it currently exists is not a workable solution for Toronto Hydro's structural deficit.  The Board has been clear in the past about the applicability of ICM only to projects that are extraordinary, and the evidence is that only two projects possibly fit within this category, and those projects constitute a very small portion of Toronto Hydro's overall capital program.

So by suggesting that ICM needs to be relaxed or modified, in our view, this implicitly acknowledges that IRM as it currently exists does not work in Toronto Hydro's circumstances, and to relax or modify the established criteria for ICM at this stage, we believe, would be problematic for both the Board and for Toronto Hydro and for intervenors, for the following reasons.

Firstly, the evidence clearly shows that repeated year-over-year application of ICM will result in significant, accumulated, unfunded cap-ex resulting from the calculation of the ICM threshold.  And as the witness panel pointed out during the preliminary Issues Day, the hearing, financing this unapproved cap-ex would lead to negative ratings consequences, which is why THESL would be obligated to spend cap-ex to, to wit, 2011 depreciation of approximately $140 million.

Secondly, to relax the ICM eligibility standard to something less than extraordinary would inevitably lead to intractable debates over which projects satisfied a yet to be defined, vague, and ambiguous standard.

And thirdly, no parties, including intervenors, could have any confidence as to what would be allowed, and this outcome would be expressly contrary to the Board's announced intention that the ICM serve to enhance regulatory efficiency.

So once again, our view would be that the Board does not have to make adjustments here or amendments to IRM.  It already has a methodology to address Toronto Hydro's capital concern and, again, its cost of service.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Rodger, on that point, the aspects - sorry, my microphone here - the aspect regarding the difference between what you've termed "unfunded capital expenditure", I guess the difference between the depreciation level and the threshold, is that what you're referring to?

MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But did the Board not have a fairly extensive policy process in which it considered those types of arguments, as well as a variety of others, in setting what the appropriate threshold was, and in terms of recognizing, that the Board came to a policy conclusion of what level of capital expenditure is inherently accommodated within the IRM framework?

And I don't -- could you point me to any sort of new evidence as a result of this proceeding that the Board didn't already consider in that policy process?

MR. RODGER:  We acknowledge that process that you've described, Madam Chair, although it would be Toronto Hydro's view that what we have described, again, this repeated year-over-year application of ICM in this way, that's something that was not contemplated by the Board in its process.  So what we're talking about now is beyond what was considered by the Board as the purpose for this type of adjustment.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I'm not understanding this distinction.

MR. RODGER:  Well, that when the Board went through its policy around the ICM, it was not -- the debate was not focused on what Toronto Hydro is presenting now as its reasons why it needs this additional capital that can be heard under cost of service, so that it wasn't part of the contemplation of that policy review to deal with the kind of situations that we're talking about, where you had this kind of accumulating, unfunding, year-after-year situation.  That's very different than what the Board turned its mind to when it was looking at this issue.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Go ahead, Ms. Hare.

MS. HARE:  I was actually going to ask this question at the end, but since we're on it, you mentioned again about the 140 million for capital.  So you're assuming that there's no other funds available other than depreciation.  But in fact, we heard arguments both at the hearing and during intervenors' submissions that that, in fact, is not the case, and it alludes to what Ms. Chaplin was saying, which, there was a threshold established recognizing that it is not just depreciation, and your 140 million ignores the other sources of funds for capital expenditures.

So could you comment on that, please?

MR. RODGER:  You are correct about the 140 million reference.  I think our view is, Ms. Hare, that the application of the ICM formula in Toronto Hydro's case produces 50 to $60 million every year that simply cannot be accommodated and, I'm advised, that cannot be financed.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Well, while we're on the topic, you also -- I wrote down you said that the ICM module would provide a very small portion of the overall capital.  But I thought that the undertaking response showed that it was over 80 million, which is something in the order of, I think, 12 percent.  Is that what you'd consider a very small portion?

MR. RODGER:  Well, in comparison to 600 million, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And maybe I'll just raise one more question.  It's really more to sort of set a bit of context and invite you to respond, and that is, around this discussion around the ICM criteria and, indeed, in the operation of the cost-of-service IRM framework as a whole, to the extent -- and I think that the Board established this when it went through the cost-of-capital process.  In coming out of that, the standard that was sort of set was, if someone wanted to depart from the Board's policy it needed to bring new evidence; in other words, not inviting a re-hearing of issues and positions that had already been canvassed in the context of the consultation.

And so I think we want to understand in the context of this case, some of the arguments that Toronto Hydro is putting forward appear to be a re-arguing or -- not a re-arguing, but relying on positions that were taken and considered in the context of the consultation which gave rise to the third-generation IRM.

So it would be helpful to understand Toronto Hydro's response to that observation.  Certainly it doesn't pertain all of the arguments.  I'm not suggesting it's all of the arguments, but to some extent, and I guess I note this one about the threshold for the incentive capital module as an example.

MR. RODGER:  I think our issue, Madam Chair, is that we are objecting to the idea that ICM now could be used in a new way, that that is not appropriate, given Toronto Hydro's situation.

And to go to Ms. Hare's issue about being other sources of capital, in Toronto Hydro's situation, where there is, you know, virtually no growth, it is only depreciation.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Please proceed.

MR. RODGER:  I also wanted to speak to some of the submissions of Schools, and particularly those submissions that said that Toronto Hydro's application and supporting materials was not really evidence at all, but proposals.

And we could only describe the submission as really rather bizarre.  The reference is page 131 of the argument transcript, where Mr. Shepherd said the following:

"The applicant talks about evidence as being their plans for what they want to do, and I guess you could call that evidence, but it is actually not evidence.  It's actually proposals."

And with respect to my friend, this is a distinction without a difference.  We're in a forward test year cost of service regime, and the evidence is what it is.

For over 20 years now, many of us in this room have been involved in scores of cost of service applications, where the Board considers a variety of future projections and estimates, whether they're contained in business plans, budgets, load forecasts, employment hiring plans, capital budgets, OM&A, et cetera, et cetera.

And this is all based -- and this information, the Board relies on to establish just and reasonable rates.

So for Mr. Shepherd to now say this is not really evidence, which you shouldn't use to decide the issues before you today, it's the equivalent of him telling you to ignore the Board's ordinary and well established evidentiary processes.

So to put Mr. Shepherd's own words back to him:  Are you kidding?

Similarly, Schools' argument around the nature and impact of CEEDs is simply wrong.  The best top-line summary of it was provided by Mr. Shepherd himself, from page 148 of the transcript, when he was talking about the Board's process in developing third-generation IRM.  And he said:

"That's algebra, that -- I mean, I presented algebra that I don't understand today."

And it is clear, in our view, that Mr. Shepherd does not understand the effect of CEEDs on rate base and revenue requirement, from, firstly, his conflation of the ICM threshold with the mechanics of revenue requirement in a cost of service context, and secondly, as well as his suggestion that both depreciation and, in his words, the decline in the cost of capital year over year for existing assets are separate sources of funding for capital expenditures.

To the contrary, these two items are not separate.  Depreciation is the decline in value of existing assets year over year.

So it is clearly evidence, in our view, that CEEDs increase rate base and revenue requirement, and that these facts were inescapable.

The amount of CEEDs in any particular application is of course a matter to be determined by the Board in the application, but the underlying math of revenue requirement is certain.

So Schools goes on to make completely unsubstantiated suggestions that utilities that make uncompensated CEEDs are averaging an ROE of 8.34 percent, and in Mr. Shepherd's words, quote:

"None of them appear to have financial problems.  They all appear to be fine and they're spending a lot of money on capital."

Well, in the first place, 8.34 percent is far from the allowed ROE.  And second, the allegation that these utilities are all fine is completely untested.  Schools has failed to show how uncompensated CEEDs can be undertaken by a utility on an ongoing and sustainable basis, and the reason for that is that it cannot be done.

Now, Mr. Shepherd went on to say:  Don't look at THESL's evidence that's before you; look at historical information.

And he handed up some tables in Exhibit K4.7, and he said:  Rely on this, because this reflects information that, in his words, is "verifiable and empirical."

And then the clues that he asked you to draw is that Toronto Hydro shows itself on empirical evidence to be a poor performer relative to every other urban LDC in every metric possible.  And that was on page 44.

So at tab 13 of my document brief, we went back and Toronto Hydro looked at the calculations that Mr. Shepherd had done.  And there's three pages here.  One is a selection of notes, which, you know, I won't read them all but I'll adopt them as part of my reply.  And then there's a couple of attaching charts.

But the point is that the information that Mr. Shepherd put forward is not indicative of the conclusions that he draws.  And if you do want to look at this information, things like accumulated depreciation per customer is more relevant for the issues before the Board, because it shows exactly what Toronto Hydro's been saying, that it's grappling with an aging plant.

And if you go over to schedule 1, which is page 49 of the document brief, what Mr. Shepherd did is he looked at property, plant and equipment per customer.  We've looked elsewhere on Mr. Shepherd's earlier spreadsheet, and we've done accumulated amortization per customer.

And you'll see - and that's the bottom box - that Toronto Hydro has the highest number of any utility.  And again, in our view, that goes exactly to show what we've been talking about, the extent of the aging plant on the system.

Part (b) on the following page simply shows that Mr. Shepherd has made various errors in the math.  And I think that the point here is that, you know, you can't just throw up numbers.  This is what Mr. Haines also spoke to; you can't just throw up numbers and try and draw conclusions from these comparisons.  You have to go behind the data and really understand it, and depending on the comparators they use, they may be helpful or they may be completely irrelevant.  And that's all I want to say about Mr. Shepherd's information that he presented last week.

There were a number of submissions around the question of productivity, and again, Mr. Haines' evidence was mischaracterized in some of those submissions.

This is an area that parties would certainly be free to explore at the main hearing, but Mr. Haines was very clear when he testified that Toronto Hydro would welcome a discussion, as long as it's a fair comparison based on sound analysis.

We understand the issue around productivity, and Toronto Hydro and Mr. Haines are not opposed to engaging in a meaningful discussion on what Toronto Hydro has done in the past, what it intends to do in the future, and what a Toronto Hydro-specific approach to productivity could look like.  But it will not be done through the kind of back-of-the-envelope, mistake-ridden calculations that Schools had put forward.

So in response to all of those submissions, Toronto Hydro is prepared to work with the Board, Board Staff, and intervenors on this issue, but, again, this is not an issue to determine today on the preliminary question.  This is something that we can debate and get into at a cost-of-service hearing.

Now, Mr. Blue correctly indicated that no intervenor or Board Staff adduced any evidence contrary to Toronto Hydro.  So what you have before you is the unchallenged evidence of the utility.

But I wanted to respond to those submissions that are basically asking you to ignore the evidence before you, ignore the history leading up to this filing, ignore the development of capital plans, increases in capital that has been achieved to date, workforce renewal, not to worry about this 65 percent drop in Toronto Hydro capital spending in 2012 that would occur under IRM.  These are the submissions that are basically saying, Look, don't believe anything Toronto Hydro says.  Reject a cost-of-service hearing.  And in effect, let's roll the dice on Toronto Hydro and see what happens.  And in particular, CCC and Schools are saying, Nothing bad is really going to happen.  Trust us.


Mr. Shepherd, at page 151 of the transcript, in his argument said, and I quote:

"The worst thing that can happen is that they have restrictions on what they can spend or restrictions on their budget, what they can charge, at least for one year."

And Mr. Warren said at page 115:  "It...", That is, THESL:

"...argues that it can't replace aging infrastructure, that more and more ratepayers will be left in the dark.  It's a grim doomsday scenario.  If it spends what it feels it must, the ROE will drop to the point where the investment community will abandon it.  It's rhetoric."

Now, the approach of CCC and Schools reminds me of the old adage:  When the facts are against you, argue the law.  When the law is against you, argue the facts.  And when both the facts and law are against you, attack credibility.  And these allegations about a lack of credibility on Toronto Hydro's part are simply not appropriate.

In these attacks they commit the very error they accuse Toronto Hydro of; namely, rhetoric.  I would suggest to the Board that it would be a very strange outcome where the Board extends a presumption of prudence to LDC management when looking at retrospective expenditures above approved levels but to adopt the exact opposite when a utility comes forward with an application, the assumption of imprudence and the assumption about a lack of credibility.

CCC also argued that since Toronto Hydro settled for less in past rates proceedings the Board should infer from this that it wouldn't have agreed to these settlements if their needs were real and immediate.  In other words, the settlement agreements that were filed in 2009/2010 somehow would suggest that Toronto's concerns are not credible.

Now, it is true that Toronto Hydro did reach settlements on capital in its 2010 and 2011 rate cases, and it did so because we were directed by the Board to participate in settlement conferences, and we came to those settlement conferences honestly and in good faith.  And the result was a large number of issues settled, and that helped reduce the scope of the hearing.

And Mr. Haines also described how those settlements came about, that intervenors raised concerns about the pace of change and raised concerns about whether Toronto Hydro was able to deliver on larger capital plans, and we've done that.

But we're very concerned about the implication if the Consumer Council's arguments are accepted.  Put simply, if the Board makes an adverse inference against Toronto Hydro based on past settlements, the Board will completely undermine its own efforts to encourage settlement.

To work, settlement processes require the parties to set aside positional interests and work honestly and in good faith to reach consensus to resolve issues.

If the Board now permits settlement documents to be used in an adversarial setting to challenge credibility, frankly, it will be next to impossible for any utility to accept a settlement ever again in the future.

So the Board has to be mindful here about preserving the right incentives and the sanctity of the settlement process and not to risk that process because some parties simply do not want Toronto Hydro to have a cost-of-service hearing.

And as an aside on these settlements, I would note that both Schools and CCC were parties to the 2010 and 2011 settlement agreements, which acknowledged capital needs of $350 million and $378 million respectively, significantly higher than the 140 million proposed for 2012 that would result under IRM.

So to conclude this topic, the clear evidence of Mr. Haines is that electricity customers in Toronto will suffer under IRM, either in decreased reliability in the short-term or in very substantial rate increases in the mid-term.

IRM means placing Canada's largest distributor, in Mr. Haines' words, in survival mode, at a time when much-needed capital investment in the distribution plant needs to be made, but also on the eve of the city hosting major international events, such as the Pan Am games, events that are supposed to showcase Toronto to the world.

So this is not some kind of theoretical construct or some kind of game for Toronto Hydro.  What is at stake is the ability of Toronto Hydro to adequately serve the needs of Canada's largest city.

Now, in wrapping up, Madam Chair, one of the most telling features I'd ask you to consider from the arguments of my friends are the omissions, and that is the omissions of any meaningful counter-arguments around Toronto Hydro's evidence concerning the structural deficit of IRM for a utility in Toronto Hydro's circumstances.

What we have put before you is clear evidence of the structural deficit created by IRM in circumstances where a utility must spend significantly in excess of depreciation for infrastructure renewal and must spend increasingly amounts for a transitional period on workforce renewal.

But the intervenors have offered no substantive responses to distribution equipment at the end of its life, or as highly or fully depreciated, cannot be replaced as required without a significant increase in rate base and revenue requirement, or that human resources needed for workforce renewal cannot be engaged and retained without increases in revenue requirement, or that the architecture of IRM does not and cannot accommodate these additional resource needs, and the fact that the imposition of IRM on Toronto Hydro in the circumstances would place Toronto Hydro in an untenable position where it must choose between mutually exclusive alternatives of maintaining financial viability or maintaining acceptable levels of distribution service.

So I want to leave you with an alternative explanation, if you like, of what may be going on here in contrast to what my friends have said to you last week.

Toronto Hydro has been at the head of the pack in Ontario's distribution sector on many fronts.  We were the first to complete our installation and rollout of smart meters.  We were the first to bring applications to the Board on CDM.  We were the first to tackle the issue of rationalizing street lighting within the LDC.

Perhaps the answer to why Toronto Hydro is here in this preliminary process now is, Toronto Hydro may be the first LDC in Ontario to confront its system needs and bring them to the Board's attention in a comprehensive and detailed manner.

So taking a leadership role doesn't make you wrong, it just makes you first.  And Toronto Hydro's application, if anything, is entirely consistent with the challenge the Board itself has flagged in its new regulatory renewal initiative, that both the distribution and transmission sectors have very significant infrastructure needs ahead.

So what Toronto is saying in this application, we believe, corroborates the Board's own policy initiative.

So in conclusion, Madam Chair, we ask the Board to find that Toronto Hydro has met the Board's test and discharged the standard of proof, that Toronto Hydro has demonstrated in a clear and cogent way why it cannot adequately manage its resources and financial needs under IRM, and therefore that Toronto Hydro be allowed to proceed to have its application heard in a cost-of-service hearing.

And those are my submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. HARE:  One area that you didn't address, Mr. Rodger, is the fact that we heard submissions from intervenors and we heard it during cross-examination about the fact that you do have the highest rates of any distributor in the province.

We also heard Mr. Haines say that some of the statistics comparing utilities were incorrect because they were done on a customer basis, not volumetric, and when we saw the volumetric numbers, they also didn't position Toronto Hydro in a very good light.

Now, you didn't comment on the fact that you already have the highest rates and you're looking in this application for increases of between 10 and 12 percent.

So can you help us with that, please?

MR. RODGER:  So a couple of responses to that, Ms. Hare.

I think that the whole question about rates and rate levels -- we would very much like to have a discussion on that at the hearing, because on that front, we think there is information and a discussion that could be had about what ratepayers do and do not find acceptable.  So we feel comfortable with the application that we've made, and we are quite prepared to deal with these issues in detail at a hearing; that's the first thing I would say.

In terms of Toronto Hydro's rates, again, it's in part a function of where we are as a utility.  We are not a growing utility, but we have significant replacement needs.  So we are spreading fewer and fewer kilowatt-hours over, essentially, a static customer base.  So that also has a rate impact.

And thirdly, and most importantly, again, this is an issue we can deal with in the hearing, but it's not a factor that should be considered in getting over this first threshold preliminary issue.  The test is not about comparing rate levels of different utilities; the test is whether Toronto Hydro can manage under IRM.  And that's a different question than what you've posed.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  And then just one last question.

You talked about BOMA's submissions about reasonable expectations, and have several times pointed to the July 2011 decision as being the first time that the Board articulated its expectations with respect to IRM.

But just to complete the record, would you agree with me that before settlement discussions were completed last spring, Toronto Hydro had seen the Board's letter and knew that, in fact, it was not on the list of applicants expected to file a cost of service application?  So at that point you had the first signal that the Board's expectations were not to come forward with cost of service for 2012?

MR. RODGER:  Ms. Hare, I think the honest view at Toronto Hydro is that the Board considered them different, given the history and track record that led up to that point.  It was not until that July 2011 decision that it was clear to us for the first time that you did not accept this idea that there was two alternate approaches.

MS. HARE:  What did you think about the Board's letter?

MR. RODGER:  That given Toronto Hydro's situation, it would be expected that we would come forward with the application of our choice, given our context, and we would be dealt with at that time.

MS. CONBOY:  Earlier on in your argument, Mr. Rodger, you had said, and I've highlighted it here, so -- set up Toronto Hydro:

"If the Board were to decide that Toronto Hydro has not satisfied your test because, for example, witnesses did not go into the sufficient level of detail for workforce renewal, let's say, but the entire preliminary issue itself, it's been heard in a context that's much narrower than the full cost of service hearing, where all the five volumes of evidence is read, presented, and tested, then that outcome, in our view, would be inappropriate and would raise procedural-fairness concerns."


Can you explain that to me, again, please?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  So -- and we've had this discussion a couple of times in this process, right back to the earlier procedural orders, that it's been clear, and I think the Board has confirmed, that for this preliminary issue to be decided, we're not looking at the entire case, right?  We're looking at something less than the full five volumes of evidence, than a full interrogatory process at this point.

So my point about the procedural fairness issue is given that, you can't impose a standard that would go beyond kind of the four walls of what we're doing in this preliminary process, right?  We haven't yet gone through all the evidence in detail; you didn't want us to speak to all the five volumes of evidence.

But if you found that we didn't meet the test because you were looking at something outside the box you've established, that's what I mean by setting up Toronto Hydro for failure.

It goes beyond the process of what we're in today.

MS. CONBOY:  So theoretically, then, if I understand what you're saying, go through all five -- go through and test all five volumes of evidence, and you may find after that testing that IRM is actually the appropriate model to use?

MR. RODGER:  No.  No, it's not that.  It's, again, to discharge your -- the test that you've set out, why Toronto Hydro can't manage, and you've said:  We're going to follow this process, and the process at this point is not to review all your evidence in detail.  It's looking at a part of it.

MS. CONBOY:  Mm-hmm.

MR. RODGER:  And the first procedural order was actually -- you actually specified one particular exhibit out of the whole five chapters.

So our point is that when you look at the evidence, it would be inappropriate, in our view, to say:  Well, really they should have focussed on or provided more detail on -- you know, you choose any topic.

My point is we were working within a smaller construct to start with.  And that's what your test has to be based on, what was in that construct, and that we shouldn't -- that there shouldn't be things brought in from outside of that scope to say that this should also have been part of the test, but you didn't meet it because you didn't speak to it.

Well, we didn't speak to it because we didn't think it was part of this initial process.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So you're not necessarily saying that construct was too narrow; you're saying don't bring the other type of evidence within that construct?

MR. RODGER:  That's right.  You can't sit up and say Toronto Hydro hasn't met the test, but then not give us the tools so that we could discharge that test.

MS. CONBOY:  Understood.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board has no further questions for you.  Thank you very much.

That concludes this phase of the proceeding, so the Board will issue its Decision on the preliminary issue as soon as it is able.  Thank you very much.

And thank you also to the court reporters.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:02 a.m.
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